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City and County )

‘Df Pew Pork, (7 /‘Z%\ / %%A/&

Strect, aged. %d years,

being duly sworn,

deposes cch says, that on the dm/ of . 8‘)\:25 the Clity of New

York, in the County of New York, /PV\ /’/%/é;

occupdation

he was wiolently and feloniowusly ASSAULTED gnd BEAYTEN bypf A LIPS

. with the felonious intent to take the life of deponent, or to do him. gricvous bodily harm,; wnd without
any justification on the part of the said assailant.

Wherefore this deponent prays that the said assailant may be apprehended and bound to answer
for the above wussault, ¢te., and be dealt with according to law.

Sworn to before me, this

o A%
’ 7

ustice.
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Question. at igg@your business or profession ?

(1385)
Sec. 198—200. /Dlstrlct Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY} ss
OF NEW/YORJ, i

/ Wh/\ being duly examined before the under-

signed’” according to law, on the annexed charge, - and being informed that it is by right to

" make a statement in relation to the charge against h-s— ; that the statement is designed to

enable hor if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h~—_
that he is.at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h~—> waiver cannot be used

against h~—=— on the trial.

' Question, Whayt is your name ?

Question.” How old are you?

Answenr. 5{7 W‘é
Question. Where were ydu born ?

Answer. N

Question. Where do you live and how long;; have you resided there ?

Answer. LA
{

Question. (ive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
e against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation ?
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It appearing to

Iwndred Dollars,. .. .. ...

N\,
guil@ﬁr]ar that e be held to onswer the samme, and  he be admilled 1o bail im t/ve sum of
i ettt De commitied to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prison of the City of New Yoric, wnbil e LivgA
P - — N /“""—' =
Dated, s <7 189 =2 CC o e Pl Justi"f/

e

I Ivave admitted the above-nanyed,

to bail to answer by the wndertalking Juerelo annesed.

Police Justice,

L1/

Dated,

There being no sufficient conse to believe the within named

Lguilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be dischargded.

Police Justice.

Dated,




@ourt of General Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TaE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEwW YOREK

against

i Q‘»’/' S r\_/-%ﬂ‘ e ..

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment accuse
/ Z/
- L2 N L L e N

of the Crime OF/XSSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said/"\,. /,- \\é/,« sy .

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the ~7
eight huud1ed and

day of CC(, —lt U/ in the year of our Lord one thousa.nd

ninety- (_/C , at the Clty and County aforesaid, with force and arms, feloniously made an

assault in and upon one )
y / .. . . . - (/bf‘(/(/ Q¢

.. - (//
then and there being, .x,/' . /‘ ol ey s« 2~ of the Municipal Police of the City of
New York, and as such % A/é( — / 2\ oo~ being then and there engaged in the lawful

[AN]
C/%/ LC"/ S S B A G W of o G-7r7.1.-a—- (Wi (/ —d S

L

. . e ¥ (/’/\"‘
him the Sdl;’///%iz/\ ‘ @.{ <. /)/ .C <.

N
then and th leloniously di at, ﬂbrlke, wonnl and othelwisr»; illtreat, with intent then and there
and thereby to prevent and resist the l.l,wful 6//2/)_ CA\_e. NV gy .
( 14 .
of %/m 1,2, A e g AL € A Cpon P —(0 ﬁd‘urr—wv—-v-zﬁ/_//z_.ﬂs aforesaid,
against the form of the statute in such cu.:sg—— lade and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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THE PEOPLE, COURT OF GRENERAL SESS10NS, PART 1.

ve.

BEFORE JUDGE MART1iNE.
NELL1E TEMPLE.
Wednesday, October 25, 1893.
lndicted for RECE1V1ING STOLEN GOODS.
A Jury was empannelled and sworn.

KAT1E REYNOLDS, sworz; and exanined , testified:
1 am fifteen years o0ld, and was born in New York. My par-
ents are living at 413 FEast 74th street, in this city. 1
know the defendant, Mrs. Remple, going on five years; 1 knew
her last June. 1l stopped at her house about a monthe. 1
went there in June and July; 1 stayed there for a month
nearly. Did you go there with your parents' knowledge and
consent last July? Yes. ls Mrs. Temple a relative of
yvours? No. During that time you did not go to school? No;
1 stayed there and helped her at the work; 1 used to go out
and mind the baby for her once in a while; 1 was not hired;
1l was just mtaying there; she didn't pay me. 1 was arrested
in August for stealing jewelry in 78th street; 1 don't know
the name; it was in a flat house; 1 stole some jewelry and
watches. ls this part of the jewelry that you took(show-
ing beads)? Yes. You tcok these bheads from 78th street;
didn't you? Yes. Did vyvoa take those rings (showing rings,

a chain with a heart on it, and an ear-ring)? Yes. Did

you get these in 78th str eet, the same place where you got

the beads? Yes. What did you do with these rings and jew-
elry when yoai stole them? 1 brought those things to Mrs.

Temple's house; not all of them -- all but the rings. Wh en
yvou brought the se to Mrs. Temple's house, did she see thean?

Yese. Did she ask you where youa got tham? Eo. Did yoa

‘s
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tell her wvhere you got th=n? No. Did she ask awthing
about them? No; 1 brought them there, and asked her if she
would pawn them; she said she would try. Do you know
whether she did try or not? Philomena Cooney went with her.
Do you know whe ther they did actually pawn =any of those
things or not? 1 ecouldn't tell vyou that. Did yaoir steal
any other property, except those rings and beads which have
already been shown you, at any other time? Yes: 1 stole a
watech from 69th street. Wh‘at did yoi1r do with this watch
{watch shown)¥When yoir stole it? l brought it to Mrs. Tem-
rle's house. Was that after or before yai had stolen the
property from 78th stre=st? Two weeks after. Did Mrs. Tem-
bPle see the wateh when yoa braight it to her house? Yes; 1
showed it to her; 1 asked her if she would pawn it, and she
said yes. Do vyou know whe ther she did pawn it or not? Yes.
Did you go with he»? HNo. How do you know shne pawned it?
Because she bwught the ticket. for the watd back; she pawn-
ed it on Second avenle, near 76th street; )1 don't know the
name of the pawn-broker; 1 think she got $4. on the watch;:

1l saw her have the money. Did you steal amything else in
the place from which yaa stole this watech? Yes; $3. in
money; 1 brought it to Mrs. Temple's house; 1 think 1 gave
Mrs. Temple a dollaw or sO- Did sije ask you where you

got the watch, and did yoa tell hex»? No. Did you steal
any other property except that which you have already told
us about, the $5. and the watech, in 69th street? No. Dia

you @aver go into any other houses except those which you

. have already told us, 78th street and 69th st reet, in which

you took property? Yes. Where else; tell us the next

place? ?'an street. Did you get this watch in that place




(wateh ehown)? Yes: lgot this gold wateh in 72nd street
and First aveme. How long was this at"ter» you had got the
Property in 69th street? That wa s about a week alter. Whern
you gotthis watch, what did vaa do with it? 1 brought it
to Mrs. Temple's house; 1 gave it to her. Did Mrs. Temple
ask you where you got it, and did yvoi tell haor? No. Wh at
did she do with this wateh whien she got it? There was a
criain on it; 1 asked her if she would Pawn it, aml she sniq
vyes, she would try. Do you know whether she did try, and
did she actually pawn it? Yes; in 79th street. How much
did she get on this? $1.50; she took the chain off while
she was going, ana Pawned the watech separate; when Mr. Welle
went to see me, there was nochain on it; ltold the pawn-of-
fice man tha-t there was a chain on it; 1 di dn't sce her
take the chain off, but when 1 gave her the watch it had a
chain on it. Was the.rje any other Property, which you got
in any other place, which vou brought to Mrs. Temple? Yes,
in 82nd street, some Jewelry; 1 didn't bring all that jewelry
the re. Did she ever, at any time, mssk you where you got
this jewelry which voa braight to her house and left with
her? No. Did she ever give voa any directions as to how
to get the jewelry? No. Bo you know this Cooney girl?
Yes, Philomena Cooney; she lives at 353 72n4 st reet, about

one bloeck away from Mrs. Temple's house. Did Mrs. Temp le

ever tell you what to do in going into any of these houses?

No. Do you remember having any conversation with her in
which she told you to get money? No; she toldme to try to
get some money and live with her; where my mamma and papa
wouldn't be bothering me. Did she tell) vou whe re to get

the money, and how to get it? No. Did you ever go out
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with the Cooney girl, and ever steal anything with her? Yes,
in 78th strecte. She was with you when you stole the prop-
erty in 78th street, the rings, Bfe., and did she Beoeomp any
you when you brought the prop er;y 1;,0 Mrs. Temple's house?
Yes. Did Mrs. Temple say anything to her, or did she sas}
anything to Mrs. BRemple about it? No; but she told Mrs. Tem
rle. Did you go to any place to steal anything, except
78th street, when you had Philomena with yoa® ln 82nd street
she was waiting around the comer for me while 1 went in-
sides. Vhen ywas it yoa1 were arrested? 1 couldn't tell you.
Was it in August of this year? Yes. And immediat ely upon
your arrest you pleaded guilty,ltand:admitted that you had
stolen this propertu; didn't you? Yes. You are not living
home now; are vyou? No. Where were you sent to? Westehes-—
ter. THE D1STRI1CT ATTORNEY: 1l offer in evi-
defice the watches which were stolen and taken to
Mrs. Temple's house.
Was this among the property which you tock; a cameo stone,
a pair of ear-rings, a gold collar button and some shell
ear-rings? Yes.
CROSS EEAMINAT1ON:

1 came here from the Reformatory upon this. plea of guilty.
When did you first meet Mrs.‘Temple? When she lived in the
house with my mother. Was that in 442 East 78th street?
Yeso About four or five years ago; was it? Yes. She was
living there with her husband and her family, was she not,
and yoa were then 1ivin.g with your father ahd thother? Yes.
Having made her acquaintance there, vyou called to see her

at her house in 73rd street? Yes. Didn't you go and tell

her that your father and mother had been dispossessed and




that you had nowhere to sleep and nowh ere to go? No. Dia
you tell her that, during the summer, you had been sleeping
in wagons and in lots? No. Did vyou tell hew that ¥ ou
didn't have anything to eat andg very little to wear? No.
Did you go to Mrs. Tefnple's house and ask her to t zke you
in? No. Diad she go after vou? No. How did you com= to
&0 ther=2? My mothaer came and asked her. Your mother went
to Mrs.i Temple and asked her to take you? Yes. This mother
1 believe, is your st gp-mother? Yes, she is. Did she treat
you kindly? Yes; Mrs. Temple took me for charity. Had

you been working for any other lady beside the defandant be-
fore that? Yes. Do you know Mrs. Spencer, an actress, and
did you work for her? Yes » Yunning eryands. You do not
know Miss Adams, her sister? No. You say that your mother
made arrangaments that You should go and 1live with Mrs. Tem-
Ple for charity; that is, whthout pay? Yes. lsn't it trwe

while you were at Mrs. Temple's house you broaaght a wateh

there and told her that Miss Spencer had given it to you to

pPledge? No. Did you not say to her that you got this
watech to pledge from this lady, who would not g0 herselfl to
the pawn-brok er;s? No. And that she, Mrs. Temple , woulad
have a dollar for Ber serviecees in going? No. Mrs. Temple
didh-'t know you stole this Jewelry, and you didn't tell her?
No. She employad you as her messenger, to go messages for
her, and when yoa broaght the watech to her she gave you the

watch to take to the pawn-brok er's, and gave vou money after

you gave her some money; is that so? Yes; 1 stole it, and

-1 gave it to Mrs. Temple. Did you say that Miss Sphencer
gave it to you and told yoi to go to the pawn-brok er's? No.

Did vou ever tell this woman anything about Miss Sepncer?




No; she asked me whe =2 1 was living out; 1 told her the
lady's name was Miss Spencer; she said, "What is she?" 1
said, "She 1s an actress." There was a second watch, the
one you said you gotin 82nd street; did you bring that to
Mrs. Temple's? No, 1 didn "t; 1 pawned that immediately,
me and Philomena Cooney; 1 gave to Mrs. Temple to pledge the
beads and two watches, and the car-rings; she only pledged
the two watchese. Wnat becane of the ear-rings? 1t was a
rainy day; ane went out and wrapped.them in paper and b rought
a basket, and she and Phnilomena Cooney went to the pawn of-
fice; 1 was not at the pawn-office. Have you any idea of
the value of the property that you stole while you were op-
erating up-town? No. How much money did yoa get out of
all your stealing; about? About $35. How much 4id yaa
give to the defar dant, as near as you can recollect? 1l gave
her over #$20. Where did yoa sleep in Mrs. Temple's hnouse;
had you a roum to yourself? No; 1 slept with a young girl
who was boarding there; she is not here in cawrt. 1t is not
a fact that 1 1 eft the beads in my room where 1 slept; 1
handed them to Mrs. Temple; 1 had them in a plash box. Mrs.
Temple ask=2d me if 1 could get ney a nice plushh box t o bring
to Greenpoint, to her daughter. 1 said 1 would try, 2and she
said all right; Philomena Cooney ws present at that con-
versation.

RE-D1RRECT EXAMINAT10N:
You were asked by coansel for the def endant whether, whaen
you brought that watech, you didn't tell the defendant that

it was Mrs. Spencer's or Miss Adams' watch, and you wanted

fo have it pawned for her? HNo; 1 saw the ticket which was

got at the pawn-shop; 1 think it was in Mes. Temple's name,




but 1 am not sure. When Mrs. Temple would br ing these
things out to the pawn-shop, how would she bring them; did
shhe have them in her hand or in her pocket? She woald take
a basket and put them in it. When yoa were making these
presents to Mrs. Temple of some money, what were you giving
it to her for; did she give you anything in return? No; shne
would tell me to buy dresses and sne would make them for
me. Did a2 eve y» make any promises she woild buy anything
for you? WHo. Was anything saidabout any piano? Yes; 1
muegt go over with her, some time, move overy the b ridge, and
she would buy me a piano; ) spent the money which zne gAave
me, for candy, and 1 gave half of it to Philomena Cooney,
and she gave it to her mother. l bought dresses and two
tricveles. Did Mrs. Temple ever ask yai where youa got
those? No; 1 kept the trieyeles in a cellar in a house in
ol2nd street; 1 took the tricyveles once t o Mrs. Temple's
house, and she saw when 1 took them; she didn't say anything
to me about them. 1l bought one of the tricycles for myself
and Philomena Cooney bought her own.

R®-CROSS EXAMIITAT 10N:
Do 1 understand yoi to say that you brought those Lricyeles
up to Mrs. Temple's room? No; she was looking out of the

window at them; 1 brought them to the hall-door.

PH1LOMENA COONEY, sworn and examined, test ified:
1 will be twelve years old the 2nd of April; 1 have no fath-
er, but 1 have a mother; 1 live home, at 353 Fagt 72nd
street, with my mother. 1 know Katie Reynolds, the gikl
who was on the witness-sts nd bef orame. 1 saw her when she

went begging through the house, and she spoke tome. 1 went

around afterwards, wnen 1 zot acquainted with her, to Mrs.




Temple's house, when she lived in 329 Fast 72nd street.
Did you ever see Katié Reynolids take any things? Yes,in
78th street, in Mrs. Hemleb's; she took some jewelry and
brought it to Mrs. Temple's house; )L saw her bring beads ani
two watehes; she brought the two watches home to her own
house, and her mother took them; she brought them first to
Mrs. Temple's house. Did you ever see Katie Reynolds take
any jewelry and bring it to Mrs. Temple's house? No. Dig
you ever take any jewelry and bring it to Mrs. Temple's
house? No. Did you ever get any money fran Katie Reynolas
for any jewelry which she took? She used to buy my dresses;
she brought me two dresses. Did Mrs. Temple know that Katie
bought the dresses for you? Yes. Did MrsI: Temple ever say
anything to you about them? No. What did Mrs. Temple say
to you about the two dresses which Katie Reynolds bought
for you? She asked me who bought them, and l said Katie.
Did she ask you anything about where Katie got the money?
No. Did you ever sa2 Katie with any money? Yes. How
much did Katie pay for the two dresses whien she bought for
you? TFor one, she paid $1.49, and for the other, $1.75.
Were yvou =ver in Mrs. Temple's house with Katie, and d4id you
ever see any jewelry there? Yes; 1 seen them beads, which
were taken from Mrs. Hemleb's house, and 1 saw the jewelry
whieh belonged to a lady in 69th street, a wateh, and noth-
ing else.

CROSS EXAM1NAT1ON:

Do you rzmaember the day that you were braaght up with Katue

Reynolds, by the officews of the society, and pleadea guilty?

Yes; the day that 1 was taken away. You wer= put in the

Catholie Protectory? No. Weren't vou given into the cus-

~

i tody of yoar aunt, by the Judge? Yes. Weren't you charged

B e i
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with stealing some of these things? No. Dicn't they say
that vou stole them? No. Didn't enybody ever tell you you
stole some of this property? No. Didn't you say once when
you were in ecourt that you did steal them? No, 1 never .took
anyt.hin-g; 1 was with Katie. You know what happens to chil-
dren who steal; youa know they are put away, don't you? Yes.
Did you see Katie take these things out of Mrs. Hem;eb's
house? 1 was down stairs, and she came down and showed them
to ma, in 78th street; 1 scen them chains, and two watch es
and the beads. 1 was present with XKatie when she gave them
to Mrs. Temple; there was no conversat ion had; she didn't
tell her she stole them. 1 heard Katie azsk the defendant to
pawn them? What did Mrs. Temple say? She said all right;
and Mrs. Temple asked me to go with her, and 1 w=ntoe. 1l do
not vemember the day of the week Katie gave those watches to
Mrs. Temple, but it was in the month of June of this year.
Mrs. Temple szid something to Kati« about a piano, and to
yun away [{rom home and go and live in the coantryry, that was
not the same week she showed her the watches; the day that
Mrs. Temple spoke about the piano and the plush box was not
the same day; that waslater one. Do yoa know whether these
are the watches or not (watches shown)? No, they are not;
one was silver and one was gold; 1 di dn't have the watches
in my hand. ¥ never saw the two wat ches now shown me be-
fore, only when the det ective braight them out of the pawn-
office. 1 saw Katie give the watches to her mother, and she
laid them on the table. Did you ever see them afterwa’rds?
Yes; they were lying there, one day, and her mamma wanted

to take them to the bath, and Katie said, "Don'tt ake thean;

vou might lose them." Do you know what the mother did with




the watches? No, 1 do not.know.

SADIF GLANTZ, sworn and examined, testifiedas follows:
.1 lived in 69th street in June of this year. Did you have
any property stolen from you while you lived in w»9th street,
in June of this year? 11 had a gold watech and charm, a pock-
et-book, and a five dollar bill. The watch now shown me is

the wateh that 1 lost in June.

ADELINE HFEMLEB, sworn and examined , testified as follows:

1l live at 421 East 78th street, and have lived there three
yvears. J liwved tle re during all last summere. bid yoa,
during the months of June, July oxr August, lose any prop=srty?
On the 26th of June 1 lost a whole box-full of jewelry.
Tell what jewelry was in that box, as near as you can r amem-—
ber? Two watches, 2 gold one and a silver one, and a long
gold chain and the othar one with a2 double gold chain; 1
iost a gold locket and fair pairs of ear-rings, foar or
five rings, one a wedding ring and one a gentleman's ring,
and a white ivory necklasee. 1l recognize the necklace now
shown to me as part of the property tzken framn me on the
26th of June last. (The witness was shown two pair of ear-—
rings, some red beads, a cameo stone, a gentleman's ring with
"H" on it, a wedding ring, a pair of ear-rings and t;vo small

child's rings, which she recognized as being her prom rty.")

MOSES ROSENFELT, sworn and ex=zmined, testified as folacws:
l 1live at No. 1,350 Pirst aveme, between 72nd and B3rd
streets. During last summer did yo lose any of your praop-

erty? Yes, a goid watch; it was an open faced gold wateh,

and a charm, a little bell, was on the end. 1 lost the

et
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in June.

LOUYS FPLATTO, sworn and examined, testified as follows:
1 am sixteen years old, attend college, and live at 1,295
Third aveme, between 74thand 75th streets. What business
is your father engaged in? The pawn-broking business; 1
assist my father in his business. 1l have seen the defendant
at the bar before; in July she pawned a lady's watch, with
a small fob shain attached to it, and an opera glass hanging
on the fob chain. l was in the store when she pawned it.
She gave the nane of Adams, Thirl avemie. The watch and
chain and locket shown me is the one which was pawnad last
July with us.

CROSE EXAMMATION:
Haw you got the pawn-ticket? 1 haven't the pawn-ticket of
the watch. Did that come from your place (showing a por-
tion of a ti ckét)? Yes. How much did you loan on that
property? 1l loaned 6. She came in on the 28t.., in the
aft ernoon, and she got $4.; and the next morning she came
in and got $2. more. 1 made out the tickets; that is my
hand-writing on the ticket now shown me. Are you speaking
from memory when you say that this wonan gave the name of
Adams? 1 know it is written in the book; 1 looked at the
record yesterdaye. independently ,of the record, have you
any recollection? Yes, 1 have; 1 speak from memory and re-
collection, both. How many custome‘r's come into your shop
in a day; how many customers have you -- any? About 75 or
a hundred each day. We don't put the address of the party
on the ticket; simply the name, articles and the price, what
we loanon ite This is a portion of the ticket which was

1 issued to the defendant for that watch-

it
il
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PH1L1P WELLER, sworn and examined, testified as follows:

1 am a police officer, connected with the 25th precinect,

which is in 67th street. 1 am detailed to det'ective datye.

1l arrested the two girls in this case on the complaint of
Mrs. Hemleb, the lady who was on the stand this mormning. 1
arrested the Reynolds girl at v5th street and Avenue A, and
the Cooney girl on 72nd street near First aveme, on August
3rd. When did Mrs. Hemleb make her complaint to you? in
June; Katie Reynolds was in the house when 1 arrested her.
After yoa arrested Katie Reynolds and Philomena Cooney, yaa
had some conversation with them; did you not? 1 daid. in
consequence of the conversation which yoi1 had, what did you
do? 1 went up to Mrs. Temple's house, 328 73rd street, and
asked her what she knew about the Reyholds girl; she told
me that the Reyholds girl came, a couple of weeks before ths,
to her door, and asked for shelter, and she took her in, for
charity's sazke. 1 asked her then if she knew that the
£irl had been stealing jewelry, or if she had seen her have
any Jjewelry,; she said no. 1 left there and went back to
the stat ion house, and had a talk with the Reynolds girl.

ln consequence of the second conversation whidi. you hamd with
Katie Reynolds, did yoa do anythirg else? 1 went back to
Mrs. Temple's house, on the morning of the 5th of August,
and 1 asked her whe re that watech was that the Reynolds girl
gave he » a dollar for pawninge. She took me up to the pawn-
shop, and told me she would show me where it was. Sh e took
me up to Mr. Turk's pawn-shop, on Secand avermie between 76th
and 77th streets, and l1looked over the books, and thevre 1
found this watech that belonged to a gentleman on Firstavenuc;

she said, "That is the watch." Po yvou know under vwhat name
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the wateh was pawned in that pawn-office? 1 ain't sure; 1
had so many at the time. Do you know how much Im d been
gotten on it? 1 think $3.; she also showed me a ring; 1
was looking o er the book and } seen the address and the
name of Temple, but no one identified that ring. What 4id
she sgy about that; anvthing? She said she got that also
from the Reyholds girl; it was' a plain, heavy wedding ring--
1l made a mistake there; that ring was under the name of
Adams . 1l asked he Bow she came to get this jewelry, and
she said that Katie Reynolds broaght it to her, and gave it
to hexr to pawn, saying that she got it from the actress
she was working fe~, by the name of Adams. 1 put a stop then
to the wateh and ring in the pawn-broker's, to prevent it
from being redeemed. Froan sonme infoxmation that 1 got
from the Reynolds girl, 1 went with my partner, Officer
Rabe, on the morning of the 8th of August, wilih the Reyholds
and the Cooney girl, to Mrs. Temple's house. 1 asked the
defend ant where that string of beads was that the Reynolds
giv1 brought her; she said she didn't bring any there. The
Cooney girl then spoke up and said, "You remember the string
of beads that Katie broaght in, for 1 let them =all run over
the floor." Did she make any answer when the 8ooney girl
made that suggestion? Nothing at all. 1 said then, "You
.had better look around and see if voi haven't got them aroum
the house." Shn e start ed and searched, and 1 assisted her;
“wa Tound some beads wrapped up in paper in the closet, and
some were in a small trunk, and we found the ear-rings in tie
‘ bureau drawere. 1 askedher if the ear-rings and the other

'small jewelry was hers, and she said noe. 1 asked her if she

' knew anythirg about the things that Katie had, and she said




no. 1 told her she ha d bevier make a good, careful search,
and, 4f she found any more swuff, vo 2t me know about it.
ln the morning of the 10th of August, 1 vent again to Mrs.
Temple's house; 1 aéked her if she had found any mores jewel-
ry; she said, "Here 1s a pawn-tiicker that 1 found in the
ash-pan of the stove, but 1 don't know what it is for." 1
took the ticket and looked at it , and seen it was fran Mr.
Flatto's, on Third avenue, calling for a watch; that is the
pawn~ticket now shown mae. l then placed her under arrest.
On the way over lstopped into Platto's pawn-office with h er.
1 asked the young man who was a wivness here to showme the
wateh which thie iticker called for that two little girls had
rawned; Mrs. Temple was the re at the time. The yoing man
said that iv. was nouv two little girls pawned it; it was that
woman there with me that pawned the watche. What 4did she
say? Sh= ddn't say anything at all; 1 showed her the watch
1 broaght her vo the scvat ion house and to the coarte. Did
she say anything furithe »? No. At the time when wou fouml
all this jewelry in/ her bureau drawer, in her trmank and in
her closet, what explanation, if any, d@dd she give as to how
it had been obtained or how it got there? She said that
Katie Reynolds must hae 1lef't it there. Did she say any-
thing else? No; one of the little girls said to Mrs. Tem-

Ple, "You rerember you put them in the fancy bowl that day?"

She could not find that bowl. We looked for it in different

placese. What portion of the jewelry or other property did
you £ind in Mrs. Temple's bureau? l found two pair of ear-
rings and a few beads. What part did you find in the small
trmank? 1 found a cameo stone and a small colored stone. Was

~

eith=r the tureau or tunk locked? No. What property did




vyou £ind in the closet? The rest of the beads were wrapped
up in papey in a bowl or cup. Was that bowl or cup remov-—
ed to such a2 position in the closet that it was difficult of
access? No, 1} couldn't say that.

CROSS PFX/AMLNATION:
You went to Mrs. Temple's house after you received the re-
port of the loss of this property, to hunt up those gZirls?
Yes, on th~2 2nd; tha. was the firmt visit 1 made theve. You
did not find them there? She was theaere, but got away Iirom
me; sne ran out and got awny on the fire eséape, on the 2nd
of August. Xatie Reynolds was then stopping at Mrs. Templed.
1l arrested hey on Aupust 3rd, the following mor ning. How
soon ail'terwards did you arrest the little girl Pnilomena?
On the stryxeet, on the way to the stat ion house. Did you
hear amything of another wateh, or other watches, than what
are here? Yeg; lreturned one to its owner, fran the Police
Court, belonging to a lady up *:; Seeond aveme; 1 got that
watch in a pawn-office, but it was not the pawn-b*oker tm t

was here . Where did the girls say tney psot those watches?

Up around 84th street and Second aveme,; they robbed a flat,

and another wateh they got in Avermie A, in anotha~ flat they
robhbed. Do you know, of your own knowledge, whether either
of these little girls brought this property to Mrs. Templae?
That 1 do not know; the second time 1 went to Mrs. Temple's
place, 1 asked her about this specific watech here, and she
told me shne pawned it on Second aveme, for Katie Reynolds;
Katie Revnolds told me that she pranised Mrs. Temple a dol-
lar for pledging this watch. When 1 asked the defendant
about this watch, she told me it was in the pawn-brok er's,

and went waith me to ldentifly it. 1 ot the other watech on
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the morning of the 10th. The defandant said she kXnew noth-
ing about that; :he said she didn't know how that ticket
came L0 be in the ash-barrel. (The officex» stepped down
from the witness-chair and identified the jewelry on the
table, consisting of two rings, two glove buttoners, a hair-
pin, a watch-key and a cuff-button, whida he foaind in Mrs
Temple's house.) 1 asked her if she was the owner of that
prope «ty, and she said noo. X brought them to the station
house, and the different peoplese that had been robbed came

to the station housetonidentify the property, bPut 4did not
identvify a'-ny of those things. As far as you know, yoa do
not know wh :ther this is stolen property or not? No. How
do vou know th=2 other proparty was stolen? From information
1 received fran these yvyoung girls and the people who lost
propé rty; they came and reported to us that they had lost
those things. Mrs. Hemleb came to the station house on

the -26th of June and gaw us a list of things. 1l fownd a
pawn-ticket in an album in Mrs. Temple's house, ard anothewr
ticket was got from Katie Revnold’s mother whan 1 arrested
her. 1 showed the ticket i foind in Mrs. Temple's to her,

and she sdid it was hews.

KAT1RE RE’YNOLDS, being recalled by the District Attorney,
testifi ed as follows:
1 have been in court while Philomena Cooney was giving her
" testimonye. 1 heardher tell about my having broaght two
watches to Mrs. Temple's house and shown them to her and
. then brought them afterwards to my own home . What was done

with those two wat ches? My mother pawned theme. Do you know

where? No, 1 couldn't tell you exactly whe re. At the time
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when you brought the watch to Mrs. Temple's house, which
was pawvned ard you afterwards gave a dollar to her, when
you gave hser that watech to pawn did voa tell her you we=ere
given it by an actress named Adams? No. Did yoa ever
tell her that ény of the property wvhich ym broaght to h er
house was given. you by an actress named Adams or anything
else? No. Do you recollect having been in Mrs. Temple's
house at the time when Officer Weller brought you and Philo-
mena Cooney thera2? Yes. Do you recollect that either vou
or Philomena Cooney told Mrs. Temp le that she had put some
property in a fancy bowl? Yes; it was Philomena told her,
1 didn't see her put the property in the bowl. Did you
ever put any of this property in Mrs.Temple's bureau? No.
Did you ever put any property in MrS. Temple's trunk? No.
You were in Mrs. Templea's house at the time when a port ion
of the property was foind in the bureau and a portion in her
closet; weren't wou? Yes. Had w»oa put this jewelry on
the shelf?' Hoe. Where did pou put it when voa brought it
in? ® laid it on the table. Wé.s Mrs. Temple there at the
time whar you laid it on the tabkle? Yes. Did you see her
put it away? Yes; she brought this bowl; 1 looked at

the beads; they fell apart,and she told the boy and g£irl to
Pick them up; they put the bowl on the floor and c anmmenced
Picking them up, and when they got them all picked up she

"putr them on the table. Did she ever ask you where vou

fgot these? No. Did you evw r tell her? No. The officex
t

estifies thgt, when he went to arrest you, you got down the
;fire escape? Yes. You went across the fire escape and
went into the next house, becase you knew the officer was
after you? Yes.

(THE PEOPLE REST.)
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THE CASE FOR THE DEFHENCE:

NELLLE TEMPLE, sworn and examined, t estifisd as follows:
1l was born in NWew York, and have libved here: all my life; 1
am thirty-eight vears of age. My husbhand is a cigar-maker.
Previous to going to the Tombs, )1 lived at 328 Fast 73rd
street. 1 have besen _the mother of twelve children, and my
husband has supported me all the time; 1 raised those twelve
children on his earnings. When 4did you first meet Katie
Reynolds®? 1t will be five years the middle of next month;
l lived in the house with h=2r, in 442 Fast 78th street.
Who was she living with then? He» step-mother and her fath-
2r. How long did you remain there? They were dispossessed

when 1 was there two weekse. When did you meet her again?

They moved to 8lst street, and the mother came to m= and

told me that her husband was arrested for assault, and beg-
ged me for God's sake to lend her some wearing apparel, and
to give her é lit®tle change to go down to the Tombs to sesa.
her husband. l1 first met this girl at the house in 78th

st reet. State when you met her first? 1 met her when 1

had a death in the family; she came off and on fran that
time until 1 was arrestad. Did you employ her in youwr» hous2
in any way? No; she came to m=2 and said she had no hane
and’ asked if 1 would give her shelter at night;she had work-
ed for an actress, and the actress had nowhe r for hex to
sleep; 1 said, "Certainly." She said the name of the actress
was Spencer. 1 heard her state, on her direct-examination
that her mother had made an arrangement with me, but that
was false. Did you engage her yairself, or bring he» to
your house, in any capacity? ¥No; she came of her oWn free-

will. Did you t&Xx e her into yoar house? Yes; that was in
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the_month of June,; 1893, to the best of my knowledge. She
slept in my house every night, for a week, going away in the
morning and caming back at night. Was she employed around
your house doing mything? No, except she felt like it; but
1l did not employ her to do anything. Did she take the baby
out ? The baby was dead -- that was a year before that, she
took the baby oute. Did Katie Reyholds give voi any prop-
erty to pawn? Yes; the first thing she gave me was an open-
faced gold wateh; she askedme if 1 could do her a favor, Lo
go to the office and get sone money on that watch; that she
was undersixteen, and they woald not accept anything from
her. l went to the pawn-shop, and she said 1 coald have a
dol lar formy tr;ou.ble; shé toldme if 1 would pawn it for
Mrs. Spencer she would give me a dollavr for my troable, and
1 pawvned the watech in Turk's pawn-officeon Second aveme,
between 66th and 67th streetse. Did she say anything about
Mrs. Adams at the tim-e‘? 1 don't remem.er, but she said that
the watch belonged to Mrs. Spencer; lpawned the watch for
sj.#-or seven dollars; she told me to pawn it in the name of
Adams, that it belonged to Mrs. Spencer's sister; 1 gave
her the money, and she gave‘me a dollar for my trouble.

Did she ever give you any other praoperiy? Yes,l a week af-
terwards she g2wv me anmwther watch, with a chain; the watch
now shown me is the one. On tha yoa got _&6. and you

gave her the money and she gave yoir a dollar? Yes. When
did she give vyou anything else? 1 think it was a week aften
What did she give you then? A double-case wa..tch, with an
opera glass on it for a charm; the watch now shown me is the
one she gavé mee. She said that it belonged to the people

she lived with. 1lgot $6. on that, aml she gave me a2 dollar
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and took the rest with her; lpawned that at Flatto's. is
that the watch the ticket of which had been foind in the
Pan of the stove? Yes; 1 went with Mr. Weller, am he got‘
the wateh; 1 gave her the pawnticket s when 1 got them. Dia
she give you any other property? No, only a plain ring; it
hagd the letter "A" inside of it; it had a couple of initials.
1l cannot identify that ring positively. When Katie Rey-
nolds was in your house, did sle: ever give yvou any other
property? Yes, the beads; she came into my house and said
that the actress gave her the beads; she asked me if 1 though
they were of any value; and l said 1 did not know. She sai 4
her feet was on the ground, and if )} would pawn them for
her she cauld get a pair of shoes; it was raining very hard;
she said 1 will take little Pl_jilomena withh me to pawn them.
The string broke, and they rolled all over the floor, and
ltold the children to pick them up;} they were on the second
shelf in a closet wheres the detective foird them, where the
dishes are k epte. When the detect ive came there he asked
you where the watch was pawned that you got the dollar for
pawning—- didn't he say that? Yes; 1 went right to Turk's
store with him and identifi=sd the wateh for him, and he
stopped it therec and then. Have you esver pawned any arti-
cles of your own, in your own experience in this city? O0Of-
ten; 1 have pawned articles for sane years; 1l always gave

my own name. ln these two instances yol gave the name of

' Mrs. Adams? Yes, because they were articles that did not

belorg to me, and that was the name 1 was told to give.

Can you accourt. for this other proe rty that was foind in
yvour house? No; she came in, one day, with a small box

covered with plush; she said that she would give them beads
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té my little girl; 1 have four children living. 1 could not
pawn the beads; 1 didn't think they were worth anything; so
1 never bothered myself about them, until the detective came
up e Do you know anything about the rings at all? No.
Did she ever give yoa any rings? No, only the one plain
ring; she made me a present of the plain, gzZold ring, if 1
would, in return, buyv her a dress and make it. Do you
know anything about the things scattered over here on the
table off the District At torney —— the officer coi1ld not. iden-
tify some of it, and could not tell uwhether it was stolen
prope rty or not; do you know anything about the other stuff
here? No; when Detective Weller showed them tome, 1 found
the beads and all that stuff together in the closet with
the dishes; he opened the paper and said, "This is what )
am looking for.% l want yor snecifically to say whether
y.ou knewthis proe rty found in yow house was there with
yvyoar own knowledge? No.

CROSS EXAM1NAT10N:
1 have heard the testimony which was given by all the wit-
nesges in this case. S'[ou have heard the testimony of the
witnesses who lost this property, when they said that they
lost it back in June? Yes. You heard the testimony of
these girls, when said that the property was brought to your
house at the time what it was taken; did you not? Yes. When
was it that the property was foind in your house by the oif-
ficer? In the month of August. Could it be possible that
that property would be inthe position which it was in when
it was found in your trunk, bureau and closet from the early
part of June until the 10th of August, when it was taken

from your house, without yoir knowledge? 1 ne ver took any

notice. When 1 foaind out the beads was of value, 1 found




four under the sink and saved them and gave them to Mr.
Weller. Do vou say that f{ran June you never knew that
property was in your house? No, 1 did not, becsuse she
used to came in and out when she liked. You used your
closet in which you kept vour dishes daily? Yes. Did you
see any of that property in your closet before Detective
Wellexr» took it fran your closet? No. Didn't vou know the
beads wer=e there? No. You saw NDetective Weller find s ane
property in your closet? 1 was at the closet with the detee-
tive when he foind thean. Wers yoir present at the t ime when
Detect ive Weller took some property from the trunk which was
in your apartments? Yes. Were you present wh2n he took
some Pproperty from your b .reau drawer? Yes. ln the ordi-
nary pursuit o yoar duties, and in taking care of your
household affairs, you used to go to your bureau, Lrunk and
closet very frequently; didn't you? Yes; this was a naw
bureail. Would it be possible for the property to be there
without yaoar knowing i1it? Yes. For all you know, it may
have been there from June to August? Yes; Katie Reynolds
told me that it was Mrs. Spencer who hired her, and that the
two sistewvs lived together, and to give the name of Adams
when 1 pawned the watch. She did not tel)l me where Mrs.
Adems lived, and 1 did not ask her. When 1 went to Turk's
pawn-shop, 1 was asked the address of Ad ms, and 1 gave

39% Fast T3rd street; Mrs. Adams 4id not live there, but 1
was the one who pawned the watch, and 1 thought if any harm
was done 1 was responsible, and 1 might always be found at
that address. Where did yoa say that Mrs. Adams 1lived whemn
vou pawned the watch in her narné? 1 don't remanber giving

any address. Did y@gi hear wh#s Mr. Flatto said upon the

wit ness-st nd? Yes. He snid that you gave the address as




Third avermie? 1 do not know. You will not deny that vou
gave that address? Yes, 1 will deny it, because 1 never
lived on Third avemie. Did you not hear Mr. Flatto say
upon the witness-~stand that you pawned that watech in the
name of Adams when whBen ask ed where Mrs. Adams lived, yoa
said on Third aveme; did yor hear him say that? Yes. wWill
vou deny that you did give the: address Third averme at the
time when yo1 pawned that second watch? Yes. What ad-
dress did you give? 1 do not ecemembewr. You will not say
that yoa gaw the address in Y3rd street, where yai 1ived?
Most likely, because 1 always did, bhut 1 will not be posi-
tive. How long affver yoru got ithe second watch 1'rom Hatie
Reynolds was it that you got the beads? 1 think 1 got the
beads before 1 got the second watch; 1 goit the first watch
in the early part of June, and the second watch about a week
afiver. Vhen you got the beads, did voiu ask we ~e she got
them? Shwu ssid that the lady that she lived with gave

them to her. Had she =ver told you, up to th:s time, whom
the lady was that she lived with? Only Mrs. Spencers And
her sistey», Mrs. Adams? ¥es. Did vou ask her where she
lived? VYes; she told me, on 2 time, 125th street, and,
"anothenr time, 72nd street -- that was before igot any

watches at alle Do you recollect telling me, a fsw mom-

ents ago, the reason why you kjave the address ¥3rd street
i

in Turk™s pawn-shop was bec au;e vou did notknow the addr:ss
of Mrs. Adams; that of amything went wrorg: you were the one
that was responsible? 1t is only since 1 was arrested that
she ito0ld me Mrs. Spencer lived there. You heard of these
two girls having been arrested; didn't you? Yes. Who wss
the first one that informed you? 1 conldn't say; it was the

noise around the neighborhoods. You knew of theis arrest




before Detective Weller came to your house; didn't you? He
followed Katie first to my house. That was on the night

on which she got away from him? Yes; } was at the store whm
he came in. Detective\ Weller asked you a2about this girl,

- pefore the arrest; dian't he? No, not until after the ar-
rast; after he arrested her, he cime and asked me about its
e spoke to me the night that she escaped. At that time,
when he asked you abecut her, didn't yousay you only knew hear
a couple of weeks? No. Didn't youa hear Detective Well er
say that upon the stand this morning? 1 did not; may be he
daide. The fast is, howevar, you had known the girl for four
or Tive years before that; didn't you? Yes. You knew the
cireumstarnces of her parents, and you knew her circumstances?
Yes; her father nevesr told me where she was living; 1 nevar
saw M:ss. Adams or Mrs. Spencere. Dtective Weller cazme tony
house , and said, "Does Katie Reynolds live with rou? 1 saidqd,
"Yes," she laved with me a couple of weeks." He said, "Do
you know what she is?%" 1 said, "No.Y He said, "She is a
confirmed thief, and a slick one at that," and he asked me
if 1 knew any places where she wento 1 told him )1 thought
her Tather and mother lived on the corner of 75th street am
Avenue A, and 1 did not see him again. Did he ask you
about any property at that time? No; 1 seen him again on
Saturday morning, after Katie was arrest ad; she was arrested
on Thursday; he asked me what did 1 do with the watch that
Katie gave me to pawn and gave me a dollar for going to pawn
it; 1} first denied it, amd then l told him the truth; 1 told
him.l would g with him and identify the watch. Was Katie
there at the time? I.~Io. When he came to you, he spoke to

you about having certain property which Katie had stolen;

Gidn't he? Not until the day he searched for the beads.




How long was that after you had got the wateh with him up at
the pawn-shop? 1t was on theMonday following that he came
up to my house with Katiee. Katie had not been in yoar house
between Saturday and Monday; had she? No. And Philomena
had not, either; had she? No. On the Monday whnen they
aame am found this prope rty in your house, was Philomena s
Katie there? Yes, with the detective. When Detective Wel-
ler first went to you =anl spoke to you about the watch, daid
you tell him at that time that you had been asked to pawn
the wateh for Mrs. Adams, an acuiress, with whom the girl
work ed? Yes. Wnen yu went to that pawn-shop and got the
first watch, 4id yor tell him anythipg about the second
watch? No. Why didan't you? 1 was afraid of b eing arrest-
cde. You were afraid of being arrested on what charge? OFf
being implicat ed with her, 1 suppose. implirated with her
in what? TFor pawning che watech fos her. Did vou tell him
anything about ihe beads? No, because )1 daid not think they
were of any value; they were thrown around the house. How
long alterwards was it that you told him about tihis second
wateh? The day he arrested me, the 10th of Augusto. How
long was that after the day on which you went with hin to
Turk's and ot the first wateh? 1 think 1 went with him to
Turk's and got thé wateh on Satu_day night, 1 think that was
the -th of August, and 1 was arrmested five days later, the
day he got the second watche Do you remanber Detective
Weller caning to your house in the meantime and saying, vif
you don't get tle rest of that property, 1 will put yoa under

arrest?" Yese 1t was afuver he said that tomou that you

did find the remnants of this pawn-ticket; wwas it not? Yes.

Did you go to Flatio's p awn-shop on the vway to the stat ion

house? Yes. You heard what Detective Weller said when he




went into the pawn-shop; didn't you? No; he went into a
little door, and 1 stayed in the main store, and he told me
when he came out. Didn't you hear him szy to Flatto, at
that time, "Where is that watch these two little girls pawn-
247" 1l don't know what he said; Mr. Flatto came out and
said, "There was the woman that pawned it." bid you tell
him you had pawned thewatch in that place? Noo Why didnt
you? Because 1 was afraid of getting arrested, for being
implicated with them, for going to pawn goods that did not
belong w thems At that time you did think that these girls
had stolen property? When they were arrested, yese. Why wad
it &hat, at that time, yoax did not try to give as much infor-
mation as yoa could, in order that these people might get
back theisr stolen property? 1 did; that was the last thing
thatt 1 did, and 1 gave them up willinglye. You want us

to understand that you never knew anything about the rest

of this prop rty being in yoar apartments at all? No. At
the time that the g;irl gAaw: you this goldi ving with an "A"
in it, as a present, how long was that afiwsr you had gotten
the firse watches and the beads? )1 do not remabere. How
long did vyoa have this ring before yoi were arrested? 1
think, to the begi of my recollection, that she gave me that
ring before she gave me either of the watches. What did
vyou do with that ring? Y pawned it, in Turk}so How much
d‘id vou get on it? $3. How long was that after you got
the »ing; the scme day? No, 1 think a couple of days af ter.
Under what. name did you pawn that ring? Temple. Who was
it took that out of @mwn? Mr. Weller. When did he take it
out of pawn; do you know wie ther it was affter or before your

arrcest? Before my arreste. Didd you tell him about having

gotten that ring from the girl? Yew. Ama he got that rirg;




in Turk's pawn-shop? Yes. These pawn-tickets )tickets
shown) were found in your house at the t ime when the search
wa s made; were they not? Yes. That ticket was found (poirt
ing to one of thetickets), but 1 don't remember this one
(pointing to amother); 1 didn't see it umtil Mr. Weller pi ck-
ed iuv upe. Was thatfound in the bureau, closet or trunk?

1 had boxes up in the shelf, in the e¢lothes a oset, and 1l
dumped them out -- it was among a lot of tea tickets that 1
had. ¥ou had never seen that before? No; Katie Reynolds
had a gatchel in my house, with a lot of tickets in it.

This vidcer with the name of Callahan you do not know any-
thing about? No, 1 never saw it before, until I saw.it
drop out among the tea tickeats. When you pawned the first
watch and got $6., you came back with the $6. didn't you,
and you kept $l. and yau gave $u. to Katie? Yes. Wh att
time in the day was that? Around 11 o'clock in the mo rnin g;
that moming, Katie 1eft the house around 7 o'~lock; she
came back ahd brought the watch with her and gave it tome
to pawvn. When 1 gave her the $5. she went away, and came
back that naght. When she by ught vhe second watch and
had you yawn iv, what vima@ of the dsy or night did she bring
that, if you remenbex? 1 think, to the best of my recollec-
tion, it was rowards evening. Did you pawn it on the snme
day she brought it to you? Yeso. About wh+ time in the
evening do you think it was? l think on about tea-time;
something around 6 o'clock. You came back then with the
mo'ney which you had gotten for the wateh and kept a dollar
of it and gave the rest to Katie, and Katie wentaway on tha t
night? Yes. Wnhat time Adid she cane back then? Abo.t 8

o'clock. Did she say where she was going, and did yoa ask

her? No, sir, 1 didn't ask her. Did youa ever ask her why




it was that this Mrs. Adams and Mrs. Spencer did not go and
pawn their own jewelry? No. Why not? l thought that may
be she didn't care to go to a pawn-office. When you got
the plain ring fran Katie, did she say where she got that?
No; 1 asked her the next day, and she told me she found it.
¥ou heard all the test imony which Katie Reynolsis and Philo-
mena Cooney gave on the witness-stand? Yes. Did yoa hear
them testify that, when you went out to pawn tle se things,
you put them in a basket? Yes, 1 took the basket, but l‘
would go to the stosre when 1 came back, because 1 lived on
the topiof the house. The time when she brought in this smal
plush box, what was contained in it? The beads and a couple
of broken rings were in it.. Did you see these ear-rings
which have been shown here; do vYou know whe they» those are
the same ear-rings? Yes. Did you ask her where she got
those? No. What did she do with the box containing these
ear-rings and beads? She took it out with her, and she
said, "lA am going hane, now." She came back and stopped
with you that night? No; that was the week she did not stop
with me. What things was it that you put in that faney

cup on vyour table, that she brought? 1 didn't put anything
in the cup, but 1 put tle cup on the tabke with the beads in
ite. She didn't take the beads away with her; daid she? No.
Did she leave the ear-rings also in that fancy bowl? To the
best of my recollection; 1 do not remembere. Did you allow
that faney cup to remain on the table after she went away,
ox; &id you put it away in voar closet? 1 didn't toueh it.
Was‘it' in ‘that fancy cup that sane of these things were foumnl

afierwards? No. You never took any of those things out

e .
of that fancy cup? When Mr. Weller found them, they were in

a piece of brown wrapping papers. You never put them there?




No. You had Katie Reynoldsstopping with yoa for sane tims;
didn't YOI.J.? Three weeks, altogether. You had freguent
conversations with her; 4didn't you? Only about ¢ lothes;
never about domestic affairs. You understood that she was
workirg ét that t ime for this worman, Adams; didn't yyou? Yes.
Did vou charge her anything ior her board? No. You are a
woman without much means yairself, aren't yoa, and yoar hus-
band is a hard-working man? Yes. Do you know what wages
he geivs? On an average, he =sarns $10. a week. You must
supnrosre yourseli and yous :E‘r.milyh and pay rent with that; must
you not? Yes. You have no othey means of incecane? No; she
said she would pay me for stopping there. Did she pay you
anything in return for stopping there and getthang lodging
and board at your house? Nothing outside the money she gave
me for the watches. Why was it that you were: willing to
tezke in a girl who was working sane place else ard support
her for nothing? She didn't eat mueh in my house; 1 Telt
sorry for her, because she had no home. Did you ever buy
her any dresses? One; 1 p=aid tencents a vard foxr it; six
yards, sixty cenﬁ‘s. Youu saw that girl with é tricyecyle
around the streets? Yes, once-. Did you know whose that
was? No. Didn't you know that she bought sone dresses fb r
this Phiiomena Cooney? Yes. Do you know how much she @ ad
for them? No. That. was at the time when she was silopping
with vyou; wasn't it? No, they came in, dressed up, on Sun-
day morning, with new dresses on them, and Philomena said to
me, "Look what Katie bought me out of her money; isn't she

good?™ That was all was said, and they went away; they were

going to spend the day in South Beach; my little girl and

little boy went with them; 1 gave them twenty-five cents

apiece; 1 don't know where South Beach is, only 1 read about




it in the papers. l do not know how much Katie got paid a
weske Did vyou hear what those two little girls told upon
the witness-stand when they said yoa told this girl, Katie
Reynolds, to try to get as much money as she could and leave
her parents and get out of New York; did youever tell her
that? No. Up to the time that these two little girls
were arrested , you knew that they were both good.girls?Yes.
They were very friendly with youy and yvyou were Triendly with
them? Yes. Do you know any reason why tle se two girls,
because they are in troable, would say this against you,
unless it was true? No. Did you ever sce any of this
property in the possession of either of these children, ex-
cept the watches? No. From the time you saw thhese watches
and the beads, ¢id you see either th'e father or step-mothear
of this girl? No. Dbid you know the parents of the othoaer
gasl? No. Was the othesr girl ever present when that p rop-
erty was given to you? Only one watch; the doable-case
watche What d4did she say about it? She never opened h ex
mouth. There were two other watches that you saw the chil-
dren have? No, never. Did you not see two other watches?
No. You heard their testimony? Yes. You didn't see thenf
No; she had a locket with a long chain on her neeck; 1 sziw.
that; she went out with it. When youa saw all of this prop-
erty an her possession, you did not tell her parents about
it? No, 1 never told the parents, because 1 didn't know
where her people liwed. Didn't yvou tell the officer that
they lived down at Second avemis and Y7th street? No, no;
her father and mother stopped, when she was arrested, on the
corner of 75hh street and Avenue A. You told the officer

where her parents lived? That vas alll knew where they liv-

ed. Didn't vyou tell Policeman Weller that? No, it was him

P
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told meo. Didn't you say that to-day, that you told Offi-
ver Weller her father lived samewhere on Second avermie? No,
1l couldn't say it was Second avenie. Did you tell Weller
where her parents lived? No; 1 read in the paper she was
arrested corner of ’75ti‘1 st reet’ and Avenue A, ahd that was
the first 1 knew & where she 1ived. What did you tell
Weller of where she 1lived? When Katie came to me in 8lst
street. Didn't you tell the officer, when he came b v ax
and askad you who this girl was, if you kﬁew who she was,
and he told you she was a confivmed thief -~ didn't vyoa tell
him she had been living with yvyou a couple of weeks? Yeso.
Then didn't vou tell him where her father and moth 2y lived?
‘1 said to the best of my ability 1 thought they lived corner

. of 75]hh sStreet and Averme A; 1 didn't speak to the parents

Tor-a couple of years. 1t created no sus picion in yoar mima

these children haVirg Prop erty under the circumstare es, when
you say she had a locket ami chain? No. You knew she was
a poor girl and yoi took her in £or charity;is that so? Yes.
Did you know Philomena Cooney before the t ime when she cams
in there with the beads? Yes, shewas in my house before
that; she w;lsed to come up to my house with Katie Reynolds;
the first time 1 ever seen her was the secand & gjamiary;

she came up with Katie Reynolds when 1 had a death, and she

went out again.

COUN SEL: @ now offer the records of this
court in evidence, that Katie Reynolds and Philomena
Cooney were: conviected of felony, upon a plea, in this

court, on the 16th day of August, 1893.

The Jury rendered a verdiect of GU1ILTY.
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|
?f;




CITY AND COUNTY )

OF NEW YORK, % //
oecupation %&W?ﬂ ez

, /KWZ‘M Street, bei:%jé .
says, that he has heard read the foregoing aﬁidéﬂ % C. %¢ &

and that the facts stated therein

on informatiol of deponeunt are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to ¥




iCity and County of New York, ss:

HENRY SHULAMAN, of 248 Monroe St., New York,
tbeing duly sworn says that he has known Mrs. Nellie Temple
;for the luast two vears. I have had several business
transactions with her, she bought goods on the instalment
splan and always raid for them whan due. I always found her

to he an honest upright woman.

' this 2d day of November, 1893,

ﬁ‘ e 7:—10/‘8 el

| Sworn to and subscribed before me ) ~
k : &452¢v eyézgi(éinAﬂpr
) /
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guge to believe tk
g/ ,,

e be WA to ansicer the same, anéﬁe be admitted to bail in the sum of .

and be commitied to the Warden and Keeper of

[.Hundred Dollars,__ "

of the City,o0f New Yor b&l{l?e/dbvﬂ suW@
-~ / — Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-nanued.

2o bail to answer by the wundertaking fercto anncxed.

Police Justice.

Dated, 189

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h %o be discharged,

N
~

Police Justice. g




% District Police Court.
‘ ;\BS: . %

% ; being duly examined before the under-
re, and bceing informed that it is ]}Wright to

make a statement iry relation to the chargd against l‘%'; that the statement is designed to
]}(]c sees fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h &2
iberty to waive making ay statement, and that h£" waiver cannot be used

enable "h if
that he is at
against on the trial.

- ' % /
Questio hete“were,

Answe “ y

Questiol

Answ.

Questy

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circum ppcaring in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think e your exculpation.

TSN, R0
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Gonet of Geneval Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tue PEOPLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORK {
agatnst

' The Grand Jury of the City and County of NSw York, by this indictment accuse

of the CRriMme @ RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows :

R L

late of the City of New Y01k, in the County of New York aforesaid,’on the /L M( '_,(/Z e
Sl A 2O _\ in the year of* our Lord one "thonsa.nd eiglithundred and

"

day of
» at the City and County aforesaid, with foree and arms,

\(/\ .//(_, /( g % %//‘(/ )
N Cce /‘,_,,(,,/(/,

ninety-

M&’( e G/ﬁ‘/@/-w ///&( S a,

,(_/,Z(_, «.¢ // _fr - JT Lamg COk — &/«/ 7

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one Qé(ézé' 2 %/( .,..\/6/4{
g@ M.///L/a/wzoj;ﬂ”lawgféo v A (R WS C?O“ IVl e "’)\
o

by certain 4,1/\/ persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown then lately
before feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the Sa‘ld@(t/é_,m M -, ?A/M

1

unla.wfully a.nd unjustly did felonlously receive and have ;¥the said

M(] ~C A%C( v’/ﬁ
ch4ttels and personal property to have been felon-

then and there well knowing the said goods,
iously stolen, taken and carried away; against the form of the statute in such case made and

provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

. District Attorney.
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FOLDER:
4842

DESCRIPTION:

Thirll, Eugene

DATE:
08/10/93

4842
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Magistrate.

... 1o answer Qeneral Sessions.

THE PEOPLE, de.,
on the coniplaint of

Police Court,  District




somenp wngoq

Sec. 198—:200 (/ District Police Court.

€

.
1 4

c1 ND COUNTY } ss.
EW YORK, M
//// M / being duly examined before the wunder-

. signed ord.mg to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h right to
“make g/statement in relation to the charge against h ( ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explzun the facts alleged against h

that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h L___W;:uver cannot be used

against h on the trial.

Question. is your name 2 ﬂ%

Answer.

w5 ?/d////%

Question. Where ‘wexre you bo
Answer. W/J -

Question % u live, and how long have you resided there ?
Answer. ,/)//‘/@Zo? { e % 5//(%7 o2l ﬁ//(Z?

Question. What is yo usiness or profession 7

ancoer A0 g A

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and- state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation %

j% Dot u///\ C e

Answer.
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reof, I order that he be held to ansu; the same, and e be admitted to Lail, in the swm of

w7y be committed to the Warden ardd I('e'cper of

it of JV;,"w Y{)rk, wuntii, he give .srlcﬁ_?;)ﬁm/ B gy
- (’j;gg (_j L (%f - /~ ‘//&///4/, ...Police Justice.
“~

189 e N . . ...Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within nanved. .

o JUELLY Of the offense within mentioned, I order k. to be discharged.

189 o o e Police Justice.
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Gowrt of Genwerd Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TBE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

against

653}@“ K

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the CriME o BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

\
"The said Gg—\\ Ve = V—\ /4//}///{

R

- /\

late of the /.Z_ % Ward of the City of New York, in the Couuty of New York aforesaid, on the
y - ,o(,ba-/\/()‘da.y of - %/é v in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and ninety- i . w1th force and arms, in the %a\//(ﬂ ~time

of the same day, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, the dwelling house of one
~— @C{y 5%7@ <

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commithme
TN

ime therein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said
;C <~ in the sa,ld dwelling house then and there being, then and there
feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in
such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

-

their dignity.




POOR QUALITY |
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SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

1 Sy Q%\(/é( T

of the CRIME OF W LARCENY \——/’/—j committed as follows :

The said W
2 C

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the % ~time of said day, with force andjarms,

) . e /’
P Zr/ /(/”(‘.//«A-(/c@(/ﬁ,,...a 7 % ?/\@/KM,,K
TN X SN, T %/ A ,

vecdice ?// Soine Al , e K
Free

.
~.

. E5

S

¢
of the goods, chattels and personal property of one W\%ﬂ\_
C 5 RN
in the dwelling house of the said WA, S 4%/</—~

-

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there felon-

iously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and pro-

vided, and against the peace of the People of thiz(:/zf New York and their dignity.

N
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Police Court— d D1strlct

City any ounty

of ety ﬂnrh,. %:
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occupation

deposes and says, that the pr em&srs{/} f

in the City and County aforesaid the said heing o, LV QP QA F#Lzy; O rrzzed

5 ..... L

) ]?}7)7 the S €L  iime, and (e
lond and corvied aw®y, viz:

and (Zcponeu& Jurtherf says, that he huws greut conse to belicve, and does belicne, that the afvresaid
BURGLARY wus cppumiBed and the aforegmiil property taken, s
A : propere
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‘AAVIHING 22Ul

Magistrate.
Officer.
Clerk

...20 answer General Sessions.

_on the complaint of

THE PEOPLE, 4.,

Police Court, ______District,




CITY AND COUNTY | __
OF NEW YORK, }S :

years, occup=

J 2, W /W Street, Eefng duly sworn, (;)}es and

D el

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit &

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own.

knowledge.

AN
Swornteme z’kszJ % %‘/4'44 %4/040
2l e

Police fustice,




Sec. 198—200.

Cj\ District Police Court.
CITY AND COUNTY }Ss.

V¥ YORK, %
M M / /M /% being duly examined before the under-

signed ﬂgy{dfing to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h Qight to
atement In relation to the charge against h ( ; that the statement is designed to
if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h \_

make a s
enable h

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h \__ Wwaiver cannot be used
against h \__ on the trial.

Answer.

Question. How old are ¥ou ? /\/
Answer. / 7 %’M &
Question. Where ‘e yO

u bo -
Answer. ,/Y/é% % )74%%%
Question. Where ou li z how lon have you resided there ?
Answer. %‘: W o? é/z W 7 278 ”/%

Question. 'What is your buginess or profession ?
Answer. W

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

- / (on S2or %A‘*’//xwﬁ//‘fé
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" .
crime tlerein. mentioned has been

It appearing to me by the within depositions statements thaé the

committed, and that there is sufficient ca

r the same, und

-

:?('ark, ::;/t;l he give sucl

AN e Police Jwstice.

I have have admitted the alove-named

to bail to answer by the wundertalking hereto unnexed.
e .Police Justice.

Dated,.......... L 189

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named..... . .

Guilty of the offense within, mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

189 v Police Justice.
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Court of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tor PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

K e

=7

of the CriME or BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said ) ot et Corm A L/é/,/
< /

late of the Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

%//&Q/ZK/ day of \{ 3:’ - Y - . in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight hundred and ninety- / \\;,(’/6_, » with force and arms, in the =4 /(/ — time

of the same day, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, the dwelling house of one

NN 4 P — 3

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commit some

crinfe therein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said . \3
Z o 2 N4 ; < in the said dwelling house then and there being, then and there
vt R :

feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and earry away, against the form of the statute in

such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further aceuse the said

k/éj/qbq. /Z/Ué( N

of the CRIME OF \A(M,/ LARODNYL.,\_ %/WV(&((/ ~€g committed as follows :

The said ) //
%4 G AP o /(/’\/

”

late of the Ward, City and County a.forecmid,'a.l'terwn,rds, to wit : .on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the r(« J - time of =;n.id day, with force and arms,

2

/%é’(/r/\ /(%& _/4 T ) (ﬁ(//_/// o (

f’Q//Q/(/ / ¢ \/d/\ﬁ \'O‘A/é/‘,ﬁ J// G o 0( S I g W »1:;

k&)(( C S /é/\_e;' G /((, r///l/u,f =, / L, -
4

-;,3/// Y227 \—/% m/r

%(f"%(,,/\/d/ S~ g /‘L//\ gy / - / Z e 6’1'_/_/-/! (

/ I e (.Q/éé/‘l o ce. el e .J( P Jl l..'(,,-y‘/\

(A AU SRS

(e ol e @/ & e =l

. /7 | / 4
of the goods, chattels and personal property of on )/ Ld/c/(/ ~ X

in the dwelling house of the said

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there felon-

iously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and pro-

vided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

~




--°°R QUALITY |
4 ORIGINAYL /

THIRD COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid %lns mdlctment further accuse the said

~ @G e A LA o

of the CrimME or RDCEI ING STOLEN GOODS, commltted as follows:

The said 65\&/ o %/‘u@
e | g

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards,
said, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,

I

ST . N2y o /% /( /2// =Cx ey
\(/(A % CCoern @—c,( L / % é/

& C,cy[m < 4/\//

to wit: on the day and in the year afore-

=

+7
of the goods, chattels and personal property of Q N /\///Q * / ‘/\ C.e¢

by a certain person or persons to +Ma G‘rrnnd Jurv aforesaid unknown, then lately before felon-
iously stoler from the said . o L7/<. /%€(

R

i A,fx/\/

unla.wfully and unjustly did feloniously receive n;l have ; (the said

N (Qé/(/c . T/ /(/1/6( -

@Jihe said goods, chattels and personal property to have been felon-

then and there well knoy
provided, and against the

iously stolen, against the form of the statute in such case made and
peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District A ttorney.
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POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

Form No. 1,

THE WESTERN UNION TELEGRAPH COMPBPANY.
21,000 OFFICES IN A 'A- __CABLE SERVICE TO ALL THE WORLD. /27

This Company TR ANSMITS andd DELIVERS mes only rm'%m!;;mnq Hmnm 777 53 )i dnhty,\vhu,h have heen assented to by the sender of the followi ing moess

Lrrors can be ginrded weninst only by repeati Suiel bitcle to thy/sending sy@am for e omparison, and the Compuiney will not, b, self Hnble for errors or de
in transnission or delivery of e e b Messngcs, be vnlld Lhe amaoup€of tolly Lthereon, nor i any case whero the elinim is not, presented in writing within sixty dass
after the messiee is filed with l)u Companyv for 55

This is an UNREPE A TED MESSA (- ) uml is de l cerTes TSt nder, under the conditions naimed above,

 NORYDLGRESN, Presicont
B ——l

('l” ( I\

REOEIVE a(/ ySTEHN UNION BUILD|NG, 195 Broadway, N Y.
:Dated /é 2 /'6 51_— //-




{ ANSMITS and DEL .
£ ¢ guarded against only by rsre 380,
transmission or delivery of Unrépoiated. Messagds, be,
T the inessage is.filed with'the'Company. for. transmi
Thig {8 an UNREFEATED MESSAG
i ael EE General: Manager. -

mited to by thé sender of the following mes

ability;Which linve bosh asse
. 3 #tohi for comparison, and the Compan;
s perfgl thereon, nor

der, u'n'dver};l'xe' cbnéjtioﬂi nafned nbove. ST .
Ll NORYBN GREBAL President,

will not hold-itself liable for errors or del; X
n any.case where the claim fsnot presented in writing within sixty days

7 . ou=




e

Police Court— District.

@ity and County s g5

of elv Fork
ST ¢ g,

occupation......... WL }("0&/‘—- 7. Lz / R /-1 1 Y7 cl'ttl;z/§zuo7'n
deposes and says, that the premises No /— 7 [ ceat, %"‘)&&72 ------ Ll Ward

in ﬂLszie?/ and C’}nmt;// aforesaid the said being o...... &2

and which was occupied by deponeni as ...

Jvrernar, Do

1852gin the.... &L Sy time, anid the

the property of ... ~2. N2 K

and deponent further swys, that he has greet cawnse to belicve, and docs belicnd that the aforesaid

BUL

LA RY wus commilicd and the aforesaid property taken, stolen wand cariried away by
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Magistrate.

....30 answer Qeneral Sessions.

THE PEOPLE, &:.,
on the complaint of

Court, ______ District,

166

. Pal

.




DRI <

RHSIL a%0d

—l
See. 198— : - l_j\- District Police Court.

CI1T COUNTY"
EWSYORK,

W / M% being duly examined before the under-

signed acgfrding to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h right to
make- a- Statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that he 1 liberty to waive making a statement, and that hL waiver cannot be wused
agaiﬁst. h §_ on the trial.

Question. Whatlis your name7 %Zé

Antswer.

Questzon How old are you %

Answer.- ‘ M
Question. Where W you born ? i
Answer. % W

Question. Maﬂ%g hayve you resided there %
.Ans'wer. o? J’{ W /,éW .

Question. What is your Musiness or profession ?
Amnswer. : M/C/—/

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation %

j% %/‘/”‘ZM/“ cPee A

3.

Answer.




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, S8.

aged years, occupation

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of /284 4 7 % %6(

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Police Fustice.
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Cithvine narved ..

/f/&m///
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s
£

o

the City IPris i 7 Ne’;u/\/ wntil

_Tundred Dollars,.. ... e De committ

guilty yof', I order that he be held to a,n% the same and he be admitted to bail in the sum of

to the Warden and Keeper of

Dated..........,

I have admilted the above-named ...

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated.......

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

e BUTlEY of the offence within mentioned. I order ¥ to be discharged.

189

Police Justice.




Gourt of Geneval Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TorE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORE

adainst

é(j PN Q—% é(/

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

\“’///Cg—cﬁy/&«_/& ‘—m S TN

(

of the CriMe or BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

/’// ' \
The said - L7 /{/
{—:76//&2 o S et s O )
< —

late of the’z -3 'L/( Ward of the City of Ngw York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
4/\0(4/7“'/ c’m/// day of . o “«/éj ~ in the year of our Lord one
thousand e]gl hundred and pinety- /L/‘cé/o » with force and arms, in the i K(,,,y . time
of the same day, at the Waxrd, City and Co&nty afmeszud the dwelhng house of one

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commit some
N—

crime therein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said N

/// M/o/&ué& in the said dwelling house then and there being, then and there

L Vg
feloniot:g and burglariously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in

such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

their dignity.




'ORIGINAL

SECOND COUNT—

- And the Grand .Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said
P 1
vg@é&“ﬁ %Zé TN
of the CRIME OF . oo A LARCENY ¢o ﬁ:{ lacnw’“«/y/%ﬂ, committed as follows :

The said (S —He
. (O . p

P

4

late of the Wa,x'd;'City and County aforesaid, atterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the C@ ~. time of said day, with force and jarms,

-~

Cﬁéo%/\/o' CT_’\/Z‘:(,Q/&/O ﬁ&/ 7C/Ctﬁ@/éj e G

-

77/0(,44-@-/&6’/-/% & oA ﬁ(/f/“l-/@-/"(_/%/(;a—l—f\/ é/j /‘/%Q)

- ‘
2~ . aZ( YW@O@%{/\,_/O)

P

AS . ' I
i Lo
o e ‘Boods, chattels and personal property of one A . Q,(/we/@

in the dwelling house of the sm% >7 C%wc/’/-é.-m/éé_\

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there felon-

iously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and pro-

vided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

="




THIRD COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, this indictment, further accuse the said

._ “

of the CRIME oOF @T‘.’é IVING STOLEN GOO S commltted as follows:

The said f %(/-/LX \/

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, a.fterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-
said, with force and arms, at the “Ward, City and County aforesaid,

&W ?/g//%c,/ Cogon_

4 / .
N ~ 3

oD

' N
of the goods, chattels and personal property of% IR AL /? (&

by a certain person or persons to e Grand Jugy aforesaid unknown, then lately before felon-
- s
iously stolen from the said ; 2D d

unlawfully and unj ly did feloniously receive a have; (the said
~.

S~ — e
e o Aa O e .

then and there well@ ing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been felon-
iously stolen, against the form ‘of the statute in- such easé made and provided, and against the
peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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FOLDER:
4842

DESCRIPTION:

Thompson, John

DATE:

08/09/93
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Polic"e‘ OCourt— j D

@ity und Connty
of e

occupation...............
deposes and says, that the pregises No L2482 . L.L 4 (A7 AT

o aforesaid
tolen and carried away by
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Magistrate.

. bo answer General Sessions.

THE PEOPLE, &e.,
on the complaint of

Police Court, __________ District,

Witnesses,
No.




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

says, that he has heard read the foregoing a

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of déponent’s own

knowledge.

@Police ‘fustice.




oL 20d

District Police Court.

fore the under-

v 7
according to law, on the ‘a,nnexe(L charge ; and ng informed that it is /h%dght to
sta,temen&in relation to the charge against the statement is designed t/ -

he see fit to answer the charge a explain the facés alleged against

e is-at liberty to waive % statement, and that Wwaiver cannot be used
” o the trial.

ny explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
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It appearinng to me by the within positiors and statements that the crinme therein mentioned has beern

comemitted, and that there is st ; s£ Lo believe tlhe Withigfnained ..o

L have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Dated. Police Justice.

‘v

coree - SWILEY of the offence within mentioned. I order h to be dischargded.

Police Justice.




@ourt of Geueral Sessions of the Reace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TaeE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

(

of the CrimE

The said

‘l_/’ _— /Ww(da’y of
thousand eight hundred and ninety- 2 Z5ay L@ in the %(/c, ,1// -time of the same day, at the
Ward, City and County aforesaid, a certain building there stLte, to wit, thq ZA _, A of

late of the /2 L/\,Ward of the City of New y in the ount;y of New York, aforesaid, on the

in the year of our Lord one

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commit some
cr1me therein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said
%W/A/ M&W in the said __<Q / /

then and the/re being, then and there feloniously and bur);la.nously to steal, take And carry away,
against the form of the statue in such case made and. provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

A I
(

of the CRIME OBW LARCENY — . committed as follows:

The said

Q/gw%w/m

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit : on the day and in the year afore-

said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the 2(,7 //J -time of said day, with forceand arms,

PE

4

. ’
%, 2 AN ] L //(/( ,,/ e

= 7_,—/7,/\_/

D2 /
Zéz«./@a( - %_ - Z/ QZ 2l ea S

/ @f/(,—/(

% “er~ e W G /7 = e &(f/%(/,_

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one Q@W %/C/L/q o /44/6 y&
in the - /\/J% P —— of the sald W Og«% ,,//: é/

there situate, then and there being found, in the \/@K/&%\

aforesaid, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the Peop]e of the State of New York

and their dignity. /<Q( & L o
o o




BOX:
531

FOLDER:
4843

DESCRIPTION:

VanDyke, George

DATE:

08/09/93

4843
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Police Court— Districet. + Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and Countp
of Aetv Pork, }55' ' J%m/\ﬂggﬂ
of No.......... ///Z. ........................... W Sbrcet aa‘cd‘ﬂﬁ ....... years,

being duly sworrn,

Jocetpeetion

deposes and says, tlhat on the 7, 189 gt the City of New

Yofk, in the County of, New Yorlk, was feloniowsly taken, stolen éund carried away from the possession

4 of deponent, in the

/

/

90113')1 p ”?20&.5... S




UL O a3y 55 17

(1285) /
Sece. 198—200, B VRO SN $3 17 P Police Court

CITY AND C y
OF NEW :-ss. /

& being duly examined before the under-
signed a.ccordinzto law, on the annexed? charge, and being informed that it is h 2o right to
make a statement in relation to the charge againBt hce-y ; that the statement is designed to
enable hea—~ if he see fit to answer tho charge and explain the facts alleged against h—se

that he ig at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h —~»  Wwaiver cannot be used

againgt  her®temgn the trial.

Question. Whatsis your name ? /}
Answer, /é% ﬂ/)/l Aﬂ

Question. How old are you?

Answer. » /
Question. Where were Yqu born ?
Answer. W, J v

Question.  Where do you live and how long have yoa rvesided there ?

Question. Whaf is your busginess or profession ?

Answer. Q . -»(/%/\

Question.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation ?

Answer. /L

274t
g7
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

commitied, and that there is sujfficient cawse to,belfeve thq withi;

/

Hundred Dollars,..........ooooooeeeereoeni..

rison of the City of New Xork, until he gi
Ay

Police Jwstice.

A 10D

I have admiitted the above-named..

to bail to answer by the wundertaking hereto annexed.

Dated, 189

Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within named

Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h

to be discharged.

Police Justice.




Gonvt of Geneval Sressions of the Leace
OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TsBE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

against

‘—(g,r» B k[ e 0%(/

/

The Grand -Zy/of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse
A

» )

o Nwge Fae x}//f

of the CriME oF GRAND LAR ENY in thg/‘Lc,Q__,a — degree, committed as follows :

e

The said v

Sl € R }5&&1 f@/ é .
e N
late of the C } of Ne York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the . / \/ ./%

day of “.-~~7" " in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

n 1nety—

with foree and arms,
/% L N 4/ — o B /‘ e
/
. M/‘L/Q N T c’"‘/f"?-/(,/y'*'v-l é(/% // '2’.’/:, A y
Lj% &Q/V%é/{ [Q_/{(/ = (/ (Ow/e,/ Tl A
.' 7

2 Z/ Ll ek Z«/Jéw@//— e
bl

-3 m the (/(dc// -time of the said day, at the City and County aforesaid,

of the good‘s, chattels and person b7property of one ('MV'Vaa g
on the person of the said & N
Lo g
then and there being found, from the person of the smdé’ ey
A prm 2t aa %Z Il /é
then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, .malnst 16 ‘Torm “of Ahe statute in
such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their digrity.




